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After the road had reached Lawrence, Messrs. Shoemaker, Miller & Co.,
from Ohio, took charge of the construction and built the road to Sheridan,
Kan., reaching that point about July, 1868. R. H. Shoemaker, the eldest
son of the managing contractor, Robert M. Shoemaker, a gentleman of rail-
way experience, took charge of the operating department. He had formerly
been with the Cincinnati, Hamilton & Dayton railroad, of Ohio, He brought
order out of chaos—in fact, we then began to have a railroad.®* The rail-
road company itself eonatructed the road from Sheridan to Denver. Gen.

M, Clou k R..P‘c. Wilson and Fielding Johnson, of Leavenworth; wminmJ McAlpine,

m nati. Chas. A. Trowbridge, of Detroit, Mich. General Fremont was elected
pmident b{l rwtoﬂ "' —Lea wwtll Gnummt{w. April 6. 1864. i
te of May 17, 1854, the i list of board The

ban of one board of the Unlr.m Pmﬁc Rnhrny now stands as follows: John D, Parry presi-

dent: Adolphus Meier, viea p TS and 4. S.

Giles F. Filley, Thomas L. Price, J. C. aﬂneﬂy A. C. Anderson and Samuel A, Stinson,

md'rh uwm?w:ﬁ 21, 1864, says John D. Perry discharged John and Thomas Hn]lett.
pal

NOTE 25.~The State Historical Bociety obtained from the estate of John B. Anderson, who
died at Manhattan July 25, lm :mmy letters and papers of great historical value. Colonel An-
derson was a railroad man, firs: nected with whnianuwt.lmﬂmn Route, afterwa
Panlu luﬂu and the Pillabors Fort anﬂ;ﬂhlmgu lnd the Louisville & Nashville. He

during the war as military supes of railr for the S t, with the rank
orf Colonel. In 1866 he became inbemt.edg:c;hc Union Pacifie, Eastern Division, and in 1868 set-

and also an
$100.000 of stock in the Union Pacific Railway, Eastern Division, In the collection there are au-
tograph letters from 'l‘homnsA. Seott, William J, Palmer, Robert E. Carr, John P. Devereux,
Carlos 5. Greeley, Charles B. Lamborn, T. F. Oakes, John D. Perry, E. M. Bartholow, Samuel
Hallett n.nd R. M. Bhoemaker. There was Adna Anderson, superintendent, and Alex C. Ander-
som also co udwil]nt]wmld neither of whom were related to Johi ohn B., and about whom but
Iitﬂakk:\n\\m Col. John B. d quit the when they d to build over the
Harker Hills. He wanted lhs road to h:n:‘h at Salina, going to Deuwer by way of the Saline
valley, and amu.h to McPherson, covering the present mta of the Santa Fe. He was also very
mad the Santa Fe to get the Pottawatomie Reserve at $1.25 per
acre. Among l.'he papers are several statements of earnings, which show the day of lml]l

thl.nsa Here is one signed by Adna Anderson, superintendent, addressed to John B. Anderson
* Your letter of [1868] 2ith is received. The business of the road for the months of Hmll

and April, 1868 and 1869, was as follows :

March, 1868, | March, 1869. | April 1868, | April, 1868
335 miles. | 405 miles. gmllu. 4& miles,

Eamnings ......... ....| $134.584 $136,674 92 | $166,425 60 | $217,914 49

Expenses ... . . St 84,198 94 90,388 25 89,973 27 93,291 61

"Of the expenses for March, 1ssa over §13.000 was for 1 and 1
<come from paying some accumulated expenses at the general office, The earnings for the first

half of May were larger than for the ﬁrst half of A'pﬂl. and I think they will Hleh. $216,000
to 220,000, against $180,210.93 last year. 1 enclose a statement showing details of nrni.ns_s for
the two months of both years, from which you can see the direction of the increase. My judg-
ment of the effect of the Denver extension upon the present road is that it will largely increase
the receipts and considerably reduae thl per cent of It will furnist iderable east-
-m-d bound business to load trains buck and greatly reduce cost of fuel— that is. if the statements

nfud to eoal in that region prove correct. ether for the additional business thus obtained
il will the eammt{‘w ot'lmn. to build the 200 miles to Denver from Sheridan, is a wholly dif-
fmnt question from that of its effect on the road now built.”

28. —Referring to the dwotamnll thlm The secretary recalls the time when a train
on Lhc Union Pacifie left Wyandotte at eight A. M. and reached Junetion City, 139 miles, at five
P. M., and the fare was $9, The nun fare from Kansas City or Leaven to Junction City
was previously §10. A time-card as late a8 1876 shows that seven hours and forty minutes was
required between Kansas City and Junction City. Now the Union Pacific trains make the same
distance in three hours and twenty minutes, with magnificent Pullmans and diners, and the fare
in $2.80. Five passenger trains per day each way at forty miles an hour pass a| Kansas
valley, and all are crowded with Four trunk lines—the Union Pacific, Rock Island,
Santa Fe, and the Pacific—cross the uunmmt to west with, in all, about twenty-
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William J. Palmer, an officer of the company, had charge of the construe-
tion.?7

In 1866, when it had become certain, because of delays already men-
tioned, that it was impossible to beat the Nebraska line builders, permission
was obtained from Congress to change the route, and instead of following
up the north fork of the Republican to meet the Nebraska road, Perry was
permitted to build as directly from Fort Riley to Denver as the topography
of the country allowed.* It was not until September 1, 1870,29 that the
road was opened for trafic from Wyandotte to that city. May 31, 1868, the
name of the road was changed to Kansas Pacific Railway, and January 24,
1880, the road was consolidated with the Union Pacific and Denver Pacifie
under the name of the Union Pacific Railroad Company.

During the seven years spent in construeting the line many hardships
were undergone, all materials, even cross ties for the road and coal for the
locomotives, had to be transported from the points below Wyandotte on the
Missouri river by boat. The Indians everywhere opposed the graders, track

track was laid in December, 1904, and tracklaying was completed in Oectober, 1908, In the year
1909 Kansas had 5943.60 miles of main line, and 240706 miles of second and side track,

for taxation at $367.429.051. The contrast between then, when a Denver extension was a ques-
tion, and conditions to-day, seems unbelievable,

NoTE 27.—Letter of Supt. J. 0. Brinkerhoff, August 22, 1910,

NoTe 28.—The progress of the road up the valley, with a slight comparison with conditions
to-day, are of exceeding interest:

November 26, 184, the last rail was laid into Lawrence. December 19, 1864, the first regular
service was given Lawrence, There was an excursion train into Lawrence Novembaer 28,

January 19, 1865, the legislature adjourna to the 23d, in order to indulge in an exeursion from
Lawrence to Wyandotte. They had to stage it to Lawrence, June @, 1565, work began on the
branch ween Lawrence and Leavenworth. October 80, 1885, President Johnson accepts the
first forty miles, or about from Wyandotte to Lawrence. Decomber 15, 1865, fifty miles of the
bz i 00, the Bt e v train arrived in Topeka. Senator James H.

[mnuary 1, e first regu passenger train n nator Jamea H,
Lane, R. M. Shoemaker, general superintendent, James Christian, of pleasant memory, and
Charles A. Farris, of the Lawrence Journal, were in the party: About 600 of the citizens of
Topeka with a band met the party, A cannon awoke the prairie dogs, and Senator Lane made o
speech. Many bottles of champagne were required. March 19, 1868, track laying reached Silver
Lake, ten miles west of Topeka, 15, 1866, trains were running on the Leavenworth branch,
July 1, 1866, first passenger train leaves Leavenworth for St. Louis over the Missouri Pacifie,
Ju the route was changed by Congress from the Republican to the Smoky Hill valley,
July 14, 1866, the track is laic five miles west of Wamego. August 18, 1866, the track was com.

leted into Manhattan, and regular service was first given August 25, 1886, The Manhattan

ical, A t 11, 1866, then edited by E. C. Manning, now of Winfield, says: * Passengers.

have come through to our town from Leavenworth in one day, the last two or three days of this
week. They leave the er train at Wamego and come up on the construction—it waits to-
take them Dmm“ the work reached Pawnee on the Fort Riley reserve. The
United States commissioners inspect 130 miles of the road. or to Ogdensburg. The firat rail west
of the Republican river was put down Wednesday, October 24, 1865. It was taken over the river
on s wagon, A r train ran into Ji City 5 ing, November 10, 1886,
and maki mgr trips the following Monday morning.
Jan 17, 1847, the road was completed to the 165th mile post, or three miles weat of Chap-
man, mzﬂ 1861, trains run to Salina, June 6, 1867, Simon Cameron, with a large party from
Pennsylvania, have an excursion as far west as Fort Harker, now Kanopolis. December 15, 1567,
the road completed to the 335th milomr about Collyer,

March 4, 1868, the Intors of indul !n an excursion to Hays City. The end of
Monument. -July 3, 1363, compieted t Roout 408 mjee ment,of Moo ne Sian mile post or about
u com)| 1 to e weal BaAR y
Wallace (Petition of Sixty Railroad Presidents, P 2.

Regular serviee was Ty Kansas City and Denver August 16, 1870, The firat
Pullman ear into Denver over the Kansas Pacific from Kansas City was on the Tth of October,
1£70, and it was named the Comanche, On the 18th of October, 1870, the Kansas editors were
®iven an excursion to Denver.

Outhe‘-bg.l'lh.ln‘r;ﬂm—-. 1888, p. 246, contains a table showing sections, miles, and date of

NoTe 29.—Poor’s Manual of Railroads, 1878, p. 82. "The Denver Pacifie Rallway was com-
pleted June 9, 1870, =Third Annual Report. 1871, p. 10. The Denver Pacific was con-
structed n:n;: mtchlruw the Union P:lge.c'g. D.. and “"dz.ﬁ"'d:”*a' 1869, the
land gran road between Denv hgunmwn lerred to them. — Poor's
mms.n.m F«rehmntnlme.umnhn. ilder, p. 479, and Cutler, p, 246,
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layers, and the surveyors, rightly judging them to be the advance guard of
civilization, %

The eighteenth Kansas calvary was organized and served from July 15
to November 15, 1867, for the better protection of the construction men.
Section gangs always carried breech-loading rifles. The entrapment of the
seven workmen at Russell, May 28, 1868, was quite chracteristic of Indian
methods. Seven men were at work some distance from their hand car,
when they became aware that the savages were approaching them in num-
bers. The workmen reached the hand car before the Indians could overtake
them and hurried eastward, thinking themselves safe, but as they rounded
the curve another division of the band attacked them and before they could
reach Fossil station (Russell) two out of the seven men had been killed.

The years 1867, 1868 and 1869 were characterized by a general Indian war
in the west half of the state. A glance over those years, without being
exact, shows that contemporaneous with the building of the Union Pacific
railway through western Kansas, on the immediate route and in the region
south of the north line of the state, there were in the year 1868, 82 men
and 4 children killed by Indians, and 14 women ravished; hundreds of head
of stock run off, and thousands of dollars’ worth of property destroyed. Up
to July of 1869, 34 citizens were killed and 8 women outraged. The military

Norg 30,—Telegrams relative te the military protection of the Union Pacific Railway,
Eastern Division. From Archives Department, book nl'executwe telegrams:

Gm i “LEAVENWORTH, KAN., June 28, 1867,
",
The fotlcwlmr dispateh has just been received from Wilson's ereek. 18 miles west of

"FORT HARKER, KAN., June 25, 1867,
** R, M. Skoemaker, Leav., Kan.:

“"My camp was attacked yesterday at 7 A. M. by Indians. We lost one killed, John Keulel‘.
from Spri eld, Ohie; and John Waite badly wounded: Five or six Indlans were kill 1
leave here to-night with more soldiers for our protection. Kessler's body
J. B. RILEY, Rmdmt Engineer.’
Unlena our men are promptly protected, all the men will be driven olE and the citizens out i
of the country, R. M. SHOEMAKER."'

*“‘Sr. Louis, Mo,, July 1, 1867,
* Gov. Crawford: o iy

¥ ou may call out a volunteer battalion of six or eight companies to be at the end of track
on Saturday next. I will come in person. W. T. SHERMAN, Lt, Gen'l."” 2

" FORT HARKER, KAN., July 8, 1867,

. "' Gov. Crawford: 1 believe there are other causes than Indians why the Smoky Hill stage
has not run. The railroad was delayed by high water, and not by Indians, and the stages have
stopped for want of connection and because it is not profitable. 1 want beth railroad and stage
companies to prosper, but cannot excuse them from doing their share of service unless they
make afforts equal to the oceasion.  All our posts and intermediate stations to Denver are safe,
Trains of wagons go with light escort, and even single carriers run from post to post. General
Smith has offered the stage eompany any amount of guard, Mtthsywun t go. Keep this to

urself, only help me to quiet down m'meunu‘g alarm, which, as you n does as much
arm as real danger; and of course all parties having close euntracta aml tlumelmof the
to aveid service, and claim compensation and damage, W. T. SHERMAN."'

“Jurerion City DePor, KAN., [September] 21, 1867,
“Gov, ford: Tom Parks, one of our prineipal contractors, and three other men, wm
killed by Indhns Thurndlr Gen'l Smith says we have all the protection he can give.

noz wlwe us a regiment of infantry at once to guard our working pu-tiu and nuvent wwnnkm
4 M. SHOEMAKER.”
“HEADQUARTERS Hn.ru“' Div, Mo.,

“Goy, , Topeka, Kan. S1. Louis, Mo., September 24, 1867.

“With the present mvlcﬁma (?) of the Indian commission tobeat Fort Harker the eighth
[8], I would not be willing to accept more volunteers. Mr. Shoemaker ought not to push his
parties too far out, till we meet the Cha,mman. ‘W. T. SuErMAN, Lieut. General."”
Mgmn 'g} —"Railroad grading’among the Indians,” by Adolph Roenigk, in Kan. Hist. Coll.,

p. 384,
SNELES < - SRS i Jid}
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report for the year 1868, Department of Missouri, which included New Mex-
ico, Colorado, and the region south, says that 358 officers, soldiers, and cit-
izens were killed, wounded or captured,

Many accounts have been published of massacres committed along this
line of road in those years; but one of the most thrilling experiences of In-
dian warfare anywhere on the border is mentioned in the government re-
port® thus: ““June 19 (1869, Saturday), near Sheridan, Kan., a surveying
party, escorted by a detachment of the Seventh cavalry, were attacked.
The escort had two men wounded, but repulsed the Indians, inflicting a loss
of four killed and twelve wounded. The same day Indians attacked a
government train near Fort Wallace, Kan., and drove it into the post.
Troops from the garrison pursued the Indians, and captured one pony ; no
casualties.”” Here is the story of that day on the plains, in connection with
the construction of this railroad, as published in the New York Post:

““In the month of June, 1869, when the grass and flowers on the plains
of Kansas and Colorado were nearly knee high, the result of unusually
abundant rains, which left elear pools of water in all the little arro 08, &
corps of Kansas Pacific engineers, under the leadership of Howard S'::huy-
ler,** were engaged in making certain preliminary surveys in the vicinity of
the terminal town of Phil Sheridan,* near the border line of the two states.
They had been out on a trip of several months in the direction of Denver,
and had returned to the end of the track to begin the definite location,
which we afterwards carried through to Denver, At this time I had been
with the party some two or three months, taking my novitiate in engineer-

Norte 82. —Record of Engagements with Hostile Indians within the Military Division of the
Missouri from 18685 to 1882, Chicago, 1882, p, 23,

Note 93, —PHiLIP HOWARD BcHUYLER was born at Ithacs, N, Y., December 11, 184. He
was the son of Philip C. Schuyler and Lucy Dix Schuyler. He eame to Eansas with his father's
hmll.rinlﬂﬂu!’aﬂtu—_h settled in the territory in 1855, The father was a heroic leader

the contest for free soil, and Howard promptly obeyed a like impulse and enlisted in company
infantry, June 20, 1861. when but sixteen years old. He was in the battle of

Wilaon Creek, Auﬂ:l 10, 1861, and was one of the first to reach Gen. Nathaniel Lyon as he fell
from his horse. was mustered out with the ment October 31, 1861 On the 1st of Sep-
tember, 1862, he enlisted in company I, Eleventh He was transferred to the Fourth
Arkansas t:nl&moda a firat lieutenant, and was mustered out a captain in 1865, He obtained
summer of 1865 as an axman with Phil D, Pisher, the chief engineer of the

Pacific, beginning work “Ag?h and clutziaz his services as locating Q:gino-er in putting

the road into Denver in 1270, g h the Indian troubles, ed
many months of peace and undistu quiet on the plaing, but as ver an inei-
t occurred which showed that he was something of a philssopher a3 well as a very praet

man When within ten miles of the city he sent a teamster in for supplies. The
teamsater the required stuff and then proceeded to load himself up with whisky, with the  »
result that the supplies were spread over the prairie and the wagon a wreck. When the news
reached ;cmler he remarked, ““There now, we have struck that damned eivilization
agai reached Denver William J. Palmer, who had su tended the building
from Fort Riley west, concluded to penetrate the mountains with a railroad, and taking Philip
Schuyler with him went to Wales to investigate the idea of a narrow guage. ' The result was the
Denver & Rio Grande, which enterprise eng: Mr, Schuyler until completed. He then be-
nected with the ifornia north of San Francisco. He next built a

{
;
i
]
:

muilgr Miss Fannie Bran of

Sarah 8. Lawrence Mrs. Matilda Sheldon, 221 West Tenth street, Mra. Lawrence
has two sons, Schuyler Lawrence, ihauhau, Mexico, 8 mining ineer,
dehmudzn,lummuuh&ambm et e

. -Nmu;ﬂm.muﬁn v:?hmﬁg?nkumumﬁn{msmﬂ-
county, Kaneas, s acific railroad.—; i %
maﬂmmﬂul.dnm o
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ing, and was occupying the position of redman. Prior to commenecing the
location, we were running some rapid trial lines north of Sheridan, and by
Saturday, the 19th of June, were fifteen or twenty miles out in a rolling
country, where the heads of the Smoky Hill and Republican forks of Kansas
river interlock. On the evening before, our camg had been brought up to
the end of our work, and we started out bright and early on this memorable
Saturday morning, so that by ten o’clock we were several miles awdy from
camp. In all our work we had been accompanied by an escort of fifteen
infantry soldiers under the charge of a lieutenant, acting in the capacity of
a camp guard, who, while they were very useful in guarding our base of
supplies, were of no grotectiun to us in the field. Our party numbered
thirteen all told, two of whom remained in camp as eook amf“ teamster. The
working party was therefore reduced to eleven, including Howard, whose
duty it was to ride several miles ahead, looking out the line and indicatinF
it by building sod mounds two or three feet high with a shovel. We fol-
lowed from one mound to the next, measuring angles and distances and
leveling the ogmund. Our s was as rapid almost as a man would
walk at a moderate pace, and we were exceedingly vulnerable to attack. as
we were all separated, stmn% out over a distance of a mile or more, while
Howard was nwnz out of sight and several miles ahead; but having been
out several months without seeing any Indian signs we had no suspicion of
danger and did not dream there were any Indians in the country, eafter-
wards knew they had been watching us some days and were simply waiting
for the most favorable opportunity to make the attack, bhaving evidentl
planned to kill Howard first and then come back along the line, picking o
the rest of the party one by one,

‘“In pursuance of this plan they lay in wait until they had cornered him
ina tﬂ% when they fired a shot, striking the horse in the hip; and looking
around he saw a long line of the red-%amted devils on three sides of him,
while on the fourth, in the direction of his party, was half a milé of broken
ground cut up by deep, narrow ravines. It took but a moment to decide his
line of action. tting spurs to his horse he turned to the only loophole of
escape, and, to the surprise of the Indians, went leaping over the ravines,
one after the other, at the risk of his life, but with the assurance that they
could not follow him, as none of their ponies were equal to the work. And
to keep up the pursuit they were obliged to make a long detour.

‘‘Having once got clear of the broken ground, Howard, looking back,
found himself well ahead, and was congratulating himself on so easy an
escape, when he saw directly hefore him, spriugir’lﬁlout of the grass, a for-
midable array of Indians intercepting his flight. ose pursuing in the rear
closed up, and almost before he could realize the situation, he found himself
again entra , this time by a line of Indians that entirely encircled him,
numbering about 100, as nearly as he could judge. Their rapidly narrowed
the limits of the circle and began taunting him with all manner of insults
and telling him of the tortures that awaited him, and of the slow roasting
that they proposed to give him. For several minutes he sat on his horse
trying to reconcile himself to the certainty that death was before him, but
when the first struggle was over all trembling ceased, and with as true aim
as ever huntsman leveled at a reindeer, he threw up his rifle and fired at the
nearest man, killing him instantly. Earlier in the fight he had realized
that he was more lightly armed than usual, having that morning left his
belt with a brace of pistols and a box of ;iu in eamp to be 5
taking his Winchester carbine, carrying only twelve shots. He now deter-
mined to sell his life as dearly as possible, and counting every shot, to be
sure that he saved one for himself as a dernier ressort in case of capture,
since death by his own hands was preferable to slow torture. Twice more
he shot in quick succession, without fatal effect, when he suddenly put spurs
to his horse and dashed through their lines. :

:'At this moment there was a general scramble and rush for him, some
trying for him with their spears, others seizing his legs and trying to un-
horse him. He succeeded in the twinkling of an eye in throwing them all
off, and even killed a second man riding at his side—putting his arm against
his (the Indian’s) body and blazing away. The blood spurted over Howard’s
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buckekin leggings, saddle and horse. The instant he freed himself from
them and got clear—alone, on open ground ahead of them, where they were
not in danger of killing each other in shooting at him—they fired a volley
of bullets and arrows at him. None of them hit him, and up to this moment
he was entirely unharmed. Had his horse been_ uail_y fortunate this would
have ended the fight, as the horse was a fine, high-spirited animal, superior
to any of the Indian ponies. But the first shot received at the beginning of
the hostilities had cut a small artery, and from this the blood was umping
out a steady stream that, together with his violent exertions, was fast sap-
ping his strenﬁth. The Indians seeing this were encouraged to continue in

ursuit, and their leader, mounted on an American stage horse (stolen the

ay before at a stage station a few miles back, which they had burned,
murdering all the inmates), succeeded so well in kaelpinf pace with him that

50

. Howard could almost feel the breath from the nostri his pursuer’s horse.

Thus they rode, nose to tail. for a mile or two, the Indian occupying the
time in shooting at Howard. Three pistols, six-shooters, he emptied, and
bullets flew all around mr Howard on every side. Four more entered the

r horse, already so ly wounded; a bullet pierced Howard’s clothes at

is side; another cut the strap of his field glass, which was lost; another
cut off his spur, bruising the heel slithtly. but not drawing blood; a fourth
pierced the wooden breech of his rifle a3 he earried it in his hand, almost
striking it from his grasp; others struck the saddle, and in short they seemed,
to strike everywhere but where they were aimed. All this time Howard
was endeavoring to reach over his shoulder a get a shot at the Indian, but
at every such moment the savage slipped under the bellg of his horse and
was out of sight, except a hand on the mane and heel on the back. Finally,
all ammunition exhausted, the Indian resorted to his spear, and with the
wooden handle gave Howard one or two severe raps on the head, tryinﬁu
knock him out of the saddle, without avail; but at last Howard’s horse, that
had been trotting shakily from loss of blood, fell on his knees, and the Indian
rushed up to end the contest. At this instant the horse struggled to his feet
again, and Howard saw that his opportunity had come: his foe was at his
side and he quickly thrust his rifle against the Indian’s body and fired, blow-
ing a hole through that seemed as large as one’s arm. The Indian shrieked,
leaped out of his saddle and fell to the ground on his face, dead.

**Looking about, Howard saw the remainder of the band following at a
prudent distance, for by this time they began to look upon him as a god,
invulnerable to all their weapons. When at last the poor horse fell prostrate
and anarently dead, they all flocked up to make a #nal disposition of their
troublesome enemy. But Howard, undaunted, lay quietly down behind the
body of his horse, and, when they came within shot rsnge, took deliberate
aim and fired, killing another man. ‘This unlooked for disaster completely
demoralized them, and they fled in all directions. Within three minutes not
an Indian was in sight. He turned his attention to his horse, loosened the

irth to take off his saddle, and was surprised when the animal took a deep
Emath and struggled to his feet. He then led him slowly to where the rest
of the party had made a stand about their wagons, and as he approached
from one direction I came limping from the other with a bullet in my right
leg. The Indians had paid their gentle attentions to the rest of us during
the time Howard was having his fight, but fortunately not in force, and we
succeeded in getting ther at the wagon without the loss of a man, I
being the only one wounded in the whole engagement. As soon as Howard
joined us we started on the retreat for camp, the Indians harassing us the
whole way. They would form in single file or all abreast, and charge as
though they were going to ride right over us, but on getting within shot
range would wheel and retire after discharging a volley of shots that would
tear up the earth all around us. This was most terrifying to me, a boy
fresh from school, who had never experienced any sort of warfare, and had
never even seen a gun fired by one man at another; but Howard, who had
gone through four years of the War of the Rebellion, and had seen three
geam or more of border warfare with the Indians, was quite exhilarated lg
he excitemnent, He ﬁ'ave them a challenge by walking alone several hundr
%:;&lu away on one side. They charged, but retreated when he kneeled and
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‘“ Arriving at camp after an hour's ride and rmlni fight, we found the
escort thoroughly alarmed and just uta.rtintg.out to pick up our dead bodies
for they had seen so many Indians about that they made sure we were a
killed. It was a seene of mutual rejoicing and congratulation, as we had
feared that they had met an untimely fate. A hasty council of war was
held as to what was to be done. We were unanimous in the opinion that it
was folly to continue work without a larger and a personal body guard ;
besides, it was necessary that my wounds should be dressed. Consequentl:
it was decided to turn our faces in the direction of Sheridan, which we did,
arriving there late in the afternoon, the Indians following us all the way,
seeking an opportunity to attack us again. With them it had become a
question of revenge, as they had lost hea:iolg while we had escaped e'_ntiwlf.

“The horse that carried Howard so ly through his fight ultimatel {
recovered. Three of the five bullets were extracted. I afterwards too
him home to Burlingame, where he was carefully fed and pampered for
some years, till he died. :

‘1 recovered from my wounds very quickly, and within six weeks re-
joined the party, receivmgedpro:qoﬁon to first place in the corps, that of
transit man, which I occupied until the road was completed. Our miracu-
lous escape was long the subject of wonder on the frontier, where it was

arded as the most marvelous on record, as we fought ;ﬁaimt such fear-
ful odds. I hope that the narrative that I have written will be intelligible,
I fear I have not made it as clear as I could verbally. It always excites me
to think or tell of it.’’

During the latter part of the month of November, 1867, our train ran
into quite a severe storm as we neared Hays City, about 300 miles west of
Kansas City, at that time the end of the track. We were domiciled at the
Perry House, the leading hotel of Hays City. This building had been hastily
constructed, and when we awoke, after an uncomfortably cold night, we
discovered streaks of snow across our beds, drifted in through the walls
and roof. The wind was high and the snow was fine and dry. Persons who
have experienced snowstorms on the plains know how hard it is to keep
this snow out of the best of houses, for it comes through the frames of
doors and windows, especially when driven by a strong wind. We were
soon downstairs in the dining room eating buffalo steak, potatoes au naturel,
black coffee with dark brown sugar, and soda biscuits, served on tin plates
with tin cups and tin spoons; but we had good wholesome appetites, well
whetted by the bracing atmosphere.

The problem before us now was how to get back to the Missouri river,
or at least to Junction City, then the edge of civilization. We boarded the
train and started about nine A. M. After we had proceeded a few miles
eastward we encountered a small cut full of snow and sand. Our little lo-
comotive was an old-time wood burner. Compared to the engines of to-day
it would be a veritable pigmy. However, we got through the first cut
after bucking once or twice.

Perhaps, for the benefit of the uninitiated, I might say that “‘bucking,””
as it is called in railroad parlance, means uncoupling the engine from the
train and making a dash at the snow that covers the rails in a cut where it
has drifted. Sometimes two and three runs will be made, and even more,
before the locomotive can force her way through, when she is again coupled
up to the train and proceeds until the next cut is reached, where the same
performance must be repeated. Nowadays, however, there are fences on
either side of cuts to catch the snow and sand which would otherwise be
blown by the wind into the cuts, where it packs very hard. Sometimes
powerful snow plows, with three and four large locomotives, are used to

—18
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clear roads of snow. At the time we are describing no such thing as a
snow plow was known west of the Missouri river, We soon discovered an-
other cut full of snow, and after several attempts to buck through our poor
little engine became disabled on one side and stuck in a long cut. All
hands volunteered to dig her out, which was done. But next time she be-
came so firmly imbedded that we had to give it up. We could not go east
or west now. By this time it was afternoon and we were out on the cold,
bleak plains, with the wind howling from thirty to fifty miles per hour,
and snow freezing as it fell. Provisions and fuel were scarce, and not a
human habitation within many miles of us.

We made the best of it and turned in for the night, after having trans-
ferred fuel from the locomotive to our passenger coaches. However, we
passed a warmer night than the night before had been at the hotel.
Sunday morning dawned clear, calm and comparatively mild. The sun-
light upon that vast expanse of snow was beautiful to behold. Mr. L. P
B., a fellow passenger, of the firm of B. & M., well-known forwarding
merchants, a gentleman who had been familiar with the plains for many
years, suggested that we take a stroll. I readily accepted his invitation
to get away from our surroundings, and as a diversion. The snow covered
the ground to a depth of perhaps twelve to fourteen inches, and was en-
crusted on the top sufficiently to bear our weight, which made walking
easy and smooth. We had gone perhaps a mile ahead of our train looking
for signs of a relief train from the east, which we felt satisfied would
come; though having no telegraph lines in working order we had to guess
at this. I called Mr. B.’s attention to a lot of dogs that were trotting
along parallel with, but off at a respectable distance from us. Mr. B.
looked, turned to me, smiled, and suggested that we might retrace our steps
toward the train. We did so, and he informed me that my supposed dogs
were coyotes, and while they were great cowards, and were usually not
dangerous to mankind, still, because of the snow covering the ground, and
cutting off their food, a large hungry pack might possibly get up enough
courage to attack us, hence his precaution.

About four o’clock in the afternoon we discovered the smoke from the
locomotive of the relief train from the east, and our spirits rose in accord-
ance, although it was yet some time before it reached us. We were
hungry, having eaten our last meal about five o’clock Saturday evening,
picnic style. The relief train was in charge of Supt. Blaine Marshall.
His private car it was my special privilege to reach very soon. He always
carried a good commissary and a good cook, and I made the best of it.
Upon reaching Ellsworth I boarded the regular train for Wyandotte, The
baggagemaster made a bed for me of buffalo robes and blankets in the
baggage ear, and I slept reasonably well, We had no such thing as a
sleeping car on the line. A wrecked freight train near Fort Riley delayed
us, but we finally reached Wyandotte without further mishap. However,+
when I got up in the morning and proceeded to roll up the robes and
blankets, I discovered that my bed had been on the coffin boxes of several
cholera corpses that were being taken East for permanent burial. The
cholera carried off a great many people in the summer of 1867 about Fort
Harker, Fort Hays, and on the frontier, Perhaps if I had known where
my bed was made my slumbers would have been disturbed—another case
where ignorance was bliss,
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The train dispatcher’s office and the Wyandotte county courthouse were
near neighbors in those days. In the spring of 1865 the people became very
tired of a gang whose principal oceupation had been marauding, a remnant
of whom had sunk down to common horse stealing. The superintendent’s
and train dispatcher’s office was at the corner of Second and Nebraska
avenue. The courthouse was a two-story building near the center of the
block, on the north side of Nebraska avenue, between Third and Fourth.
Here several county officials had offices. The ground floor was used as a
court room. On the bench had sat at different times Judges John Pettit,
William MeDowell, and D. J. Brewer. My home was at No. 412 Washing-
ton avenue, and in going to and from my work I often made a short cut
through an alley. One morning I was anxious to get a train out earlier
than usual—it was about the break of day—and as I was going through the
alley back of the courthouse I stumbled over the dead body of a negro
named Mitchell, and as I looked up saw the body of ““Yellow Tom’’ dan-
gling at the end of a rope tied to the porch of the courthouse. Mitchell was
probably innocent, but he was caught in bad company. Later I saw others
suspended in the air from the same porch., The justice dispensed within
was too slow.

A telegraph operator in the early ’60’s had to be an all-round man or
boy. I say he had to be an all-round boy because most of the operators in
those days were boys, and right lively fellows they were. They had to send
telegrams, repair breaks in the line, locate interruptions from grounding,
install offices, and, in fact, do any kind of work that came to hand in con-
nection with the telegraph service. Thorough electricians they were not,
nor were there many in existence in those days, although they are now as
thick as flies in the cities. When the road had been built as far west as
Edwardsville a wreck occurred near the end of the line, and all hands from
headquarters were ordered out. It was in the fall, and there wasa drizeling
rain. We built a bonfire along the side of the track. The operator shinned
up a pole and brought down a wire. Then he took a bureau from one of
the wrecked cars, put an old Clark relay on the bureau, and used one post
as a key by pounding it with one end of the wire. Having no umbrella, I
kept my messages in one of the bureau drawers while copying them, and
kept the paper covered with the cape of my military overcoat. And there
we worked all day and night until the wreck was cleared up. Fancy such
a telegraph office now. Oh, I tell you, we had experiences in those days!
But I believe we all enjoyed them. And then, you know, we were only
paving the way for the splendid railroad telegraph system of to-day.

Thomas F. Oakes was the private secretary of Mr. Hallett at the time
of the latter’s death, and later became prominent in Kansas railway circles.
At the time of his retirement from active business he was president of the
Northern Pacific Railway, Among the gentlemen who became prominent
in the early days of the old Kansas Pacific may be mentioned Messrs. D, M,
Edgerton, and John P. Devereux, land commissioners. E. M. Bartholow
was made superintendent because he was a relative of the president, John D.
Perry. Hewas laterlandagentfor thecompany. Hehad had noexperience in
the managing of a railway whatever. He hoasted of having managed his
railway without a collision. During his stewardship there was but one lo-
comotive, and the schedule was not to exceed ten miles per hour. The line
extended from Wyandotte to Lawrence, Kan., 303 miles.
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Major Waterman was master mechanic and master car builder. The
first consignment of freight offered was a lot of flour, It was loaded on a
flat car, and housing was built over it for protection. It was destined for
Lawrence. C. Wood Davis was general freight and passenger agent at this
time. He was living in Sedgwick county when last heard from. Henry
Tuell came in charge of the first locomotive, and was the first engineer. He
was succeeded by W. O. Huckett. Then came George Dean and John Me-
Daniel, now of Bonner Springs. John Broadus, for many years chief of
police of St. Joseph, Mo., was the first conductor, Moses [Jacob 0. — Wilder,
p- 878] Brinkerhoff, ran the first passenger train. He was followed by
Charlie Wallis, After the death of Samuel Hallett, Silas Seymour, a civil
engineer, came from New York and took charge. He remained in Kansas
but a short time, and went to Omaha as consulting engineer of the Nebraska
line. John M. Webster was general freight agent, John H. Edwards, after-
wards a state senator from Ellis, general ticket agent, J. E. Gregg, cashier
and paymaster. Ex-United States Senator William A. Harris was one of
our civilengineers. Abuutlmmpmsy]vmhr.ﬂmdpeoplemkchrge.
W. W. Wright was general superintendent in January, 1867, [George
Noble, division superintendent, S. T. Smith, auditor, T. F. Oakes, purchas-
ing agent. Adna Anderson succeeded Wright, May 6, 1867. He had been
chief engineer of military railroads in Virginia during the Civil War. 0. H
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Dorrance was superintendent of the Western division, E. A, Redington pay-

master, E. S, Bowen, afterward general manager of the New York, Ontario
and Western, succeeded Mr. Anderson. Then came O, S, Lyford, later
president of the Chicago and Eastern Illinois Railway. Mr. Oakes became
general freight agent, and Beverley R. Keim general ticket agent. Rob-
ert E. Carr of St. Louis succeeded John D, Perry as president. D. E. Cor-
nell, ex-mayor of Kansas City, Kan., became general ticket agent after
Mr. Keim. Peter B, Groat was general passenger agent.

Among the early employees later residing in the vicinity of Kansas City,
Kan.,, were A. D. Downs, S. S. Sharp, Thomas A. Shaw, W. H. Sills, of
Kansas City, Mo., J. O. Brinkerhoff, present general superintendent of the
Kansas division, and John McDaniel, of Bonner Springs, Willis I.
Converse, of Denver, C. C. Walburn, of Kansas City, Kan. To go back,
who does not remember our old conductors, Jake Sproat, Al Cheney, Frank
Calkins, John Phelps and L. G. Thorne, the latter now general manager of
the Texas & Pacific. Messrs. V. J. Lane," of Kansas City, Kan., Thomas
Parks and T. A, Shaw, were contractors among the hostile Indians wesat of
Junetion City, near Ellsworth and Fort Harker. The Indians killed Mr.
Parks near what was afterwards named Park's Fort, about 825 miles from
the Missouri river.

It goes without saying that there was great and bitter rivalry between
the officers of the Union Pacific of Nebraska and the Central Pacifie of Cal-
ifornia, and especially between the construction men, in the effort to build
their road the farthest west or east as the case might be, and so secure the
natural advantages of the longest line and the ‘generous government
subsidies.

““The matter, however, was settled by Congreas, which by joint resolu-

Nore 35.—For a sketch of Vincent J. Lane, ex-president of the Kansas State
oy ey Lt S A
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tion, adopted on April 10, 1869, fixed the common terminus of the two roads
at or near Ogden, and directed that the Union Pacific should build and the
Central Pacific pay for and own the road from the common terminus to
Promontory summit, where the rails should meet, connect and form one
continuous line.’”’** Both roads had graded beyond this place, the Union
Pacific some 200 miles. Here, on the 10th of May, 1869, the final ceremonies
took place.’” Leland Stanford, governor of California and president of the
Central Pacific, was present to officiate for his road. Thomas C. Durant
was there for the Union Pacific. Congratulatory telegrams from all parts
of the United States were read. The governors of Idaho, Montana and
Nevada presented spikes of silver and gold. Governor Stafford, of Arizona,
handed to governor Stanford one made of ironm, silver and gold, saying,
“Ribbed in iron, clad in silver, crowned with gold, Arizona presents her
offering to the enterprise that has banded together every continent and has
dedicated a new pathway for commerce.” Governor Tuttle, of Nevada, pre-
sented his silver spike to ‘““help span the continents and wed the oceans.””
Superintendent Coe, of the Union Express Company, presented a silver
hammer, and Mr. Durant, having driven some of the spikes into the last tie,
made of California laurel, handed the hammer to Governor Stanford, who
drove the golden spike of California into the tie.

These blows were transmitted by the electric wire to San Francisco,
where the guns from the city, the forts and the ships resounded for hours.
The same strokes were intended to set ringing the bells in Independence
Hall and the chimes in Trinity church, New York, also to inform President
Grant in the White House, that this enterprise of peace and union was com-
pleted. But it is whispered that the clicks at Omaha, owing to imperfect
insulation, were so faint that the operator there had to give three taps him-
self to hurry the message eastward. But that did not change the result.
Every city of size in the Union observed this as a gala day; flags, bunting
and parades were everywhere in evidence. In Springfield, Mass., the car
builders carried banners through their town announcing *‘ We build cars to
run to San Francisco, where there is connection with ferry boat to China."”

The engineers, managers and presidents of the roads were the heroes of
the day. They deserved to be. They had ushered in an era of peace and
union. They had annihilated time and space. By establishing easy com-
munication they had spread knowledge, which always means sympathy.
But alas! no mention was made of Whitney, of Carver, nor of any of the
early but unsuccessful projectors of a great transcontinental line. **Provi-
dence is prodigal of courage, of virtue, of man; it is only after a host of
noble souls have fallen into dispair, convinced that their cause was lost, that
it triumphs.”’

Note 36.—Hittell's History of California, vol. 4, p. 493.
terling J. Morton's H! of Nebraska, 1906, volume 2, chapter 3, and Theodore
H.Himl.l'n Rhm?ﬂﬂm 'M umtﬂwmlaﬂ&mﬂmhmmu
the history of of their ive states.
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MY FIRST DAYS IN KANSAS.

Being a short account of the early experiences of MRs. 8. B. WHITE, read at the Home Coming
in Junetion City, August 25, 1909,
MY husband and myself, with two little children and an adopted daughter
aged eight years, left Cincinnati, Ohio, for Kansas, November 1, 1854,
by steamboat.!

After an uneventful voyage of two weeks we landed at Kansas City,
Mo., or rather at a bluff called by that name. Our goods arriving soon, we
went to housekeeping in Westport, a small town four miles from the river,
We had a comfortable home and some good neighbors. There we met Mr.
and Mrs. J. R. McClure,? and a friendship developed which lasted a lifetime;
we shared our troubles, our joys and our sorrows, and through their death
I was deprived of loving and devoted friends.

The Albrights, too, most estimable people, lived there. One day while
visiting at Mrs. A.’s I witnessed a terrible fight between two Indian women
which will never be effaced from my memory. Two squaws rode into an
open lot behind Mrs. A.’s house and, dismounting, went for each other hot
and heavy. Both were drunk and were soon down on the ground wallowing
in the mud. One struggled on top, got hold of the silk handkerchief the
other wore around her neck, twisted it until the woman gasped for breath,
then eatching with each hand her large hoop earrings, she tore them from
the woman's ears without the trouble of unfastening them, making the
blood stream down her neck. She still held her down and was about to
choke her to death when a little old Indian rode up, presumably lame as he
carried a crutch, and the way he belabored them with that erutch made it
evident that that was his usual weapon. He finally got them up and on
their ponies, Bloody, muddy, with their clothes torn in rags, they both rode
away, and a little further on both fell headforemost into the mud, which
was knee deep on their ponies. There we left them, too disgusted to watch
further proceedings, 1 could never have looked on such a sight if enacted
by white people. But Lo! the poor Indian!

Mr. White, with several other men, started to prospect for Kansas
claims. Governor Reeder advised them to go to Fort Riley and secure
them as near the reservation as possible, as the capital was to be at Paw-

Note L.—Sternen BEVERIDGE WHITE was born in Montgomery county, Ohfo, August 16,
1820, He was the son of Rev, Stephen Bever ‘White, a Preabyterian minister, He w'-: mar-

Miss Anna Eliza Green, of Hamilton county, Ohio. In 1852 he the
w School in the same class and Senator Oliver P. , of Indiana,
at Rossville, Ohio, until the fall of
1850 he removed to Junction City. where he enjopci nllrﬁ ol i
@ to Jun , Wl e en a and lucrative

Jon iﬁ »!
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STEPHEN B. WHITE. MRS. 8. B. WHITE,

Pioneer Lawyer, Junetion City,
Junetion City, 1855, 1866.

nee, one mile from the fort, a city was to be built there, ete. But thatis his-
tory now and I need not repeat. Of course thetr faith was strong in the com-
ing city and all staked their claims according to the governor’s advice, Mr.
White taking one three miles from the future city, on land that Capt. Na-
thaniel Lyon had chosen for himself, but, as he told Mr. White, “‘a soldier
has no use for land, except enough to bury one.”” Dear man, he found his
in Connecticut. He pointed out to Mr. White the beauties and advantages
of his claim, and indeed it was one of earth’s beauty spots. Although far-
ther from the city than Mr. White desired, he took it, and fortunate he was
in doing so, for as is well known the reservation was enlarged and many of
the nearer claims swallowed up by Uncle Sam, ours having eleven acres
shaved off.

Mr. Albright took a claim adjoining ours on the north, which on the next
survey was thrown into ours. Mr. A. was so disgusted he packed bag and
baggage and went back to Pennsylvania, whence he came.’ My brother,
who took a claim adjoining ours on the south, lost his also. Our mother
kept house for him, and one day she saw a large snake upon the log just
behind the clock, which stood on a rude shelf. She couldn’t strike it with-
out injuring the clock, and she said that clocks were too scarce to be broken
for a snake, so she caught it by the tail, and with a quick and strong jerk

NoTe 8. —Charles Albright was one of Governor Reeder's party from Mauchchunk, Pennsyl-
vania. In 1856 he returned to that state, where he became a very prominent man. He was &
delegate to the National bl th ; Was a tenant colonel,

‘member
it
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dashed its head on the carpetless floor; it didn’t hurt the floor but it killed
the snake. But that's another story.

I must go back to Westport, We left that little burg on the 10th of
March, 1855, for our new home in Kansas. We had two covered wagons,

also, as the ground was covered an inch deep with snow, and the wind blow-
ing as only Kansas winds can blow. We had been advised to take the route
by way of Council Grove, as it was the best road. It surely was the longest
one, and if other roads were worse I pitied those who traveled them. We
were ten days on the road, striking only two houses where we gained shelter;
other nights we camped in the ravines or on the open prairie, or wherever
night overtook us. Often the men who slept outside the wagons had to pile
limbs of trees on top of their blankets to keep them from blowing away.
One day we traveled only three miles when a blizzard struck us in the face.
We turned tail and made for what shelter we could find. On arriving at
Council Grove we found one houses only, and an encampment of Kaw In-
dians, it being upon their reservation. The people of the house received us
kindly, and gave not only ourselves but our horses and goods shelter, for they
said there would be nothing left in the morning, as the Kaws stole every-
thing they could lay hands on. From there we made a bee line for Fort
Riley.

After difficulties too numerous to write, we struck a bluff on the east
side of the Smoky Hill river, where the descent was 8o steep the wheels of
the wagons had to be tied together. We could neither walk nor roll down,
as the snow was 80 deep on the ground, and but for the canvas covers being
tied tightly in front, we should have been pitched out head over heels. Oh!
how I wished ourselves back in the dear old home at Hamilton, Ohio, where
I was born, lived, loved and married, But mum was the word, and mum I

covered prairie, untracked save by Indians or howling wolves. We saw the
i | fort from the bluff, and my heart sank lower than ever; it waa truly ** Bleak

li House" —no trees, nothing but cold stone walls, that chilled as we looked.
But we were to find that those same stone walls held warm and hospitable
i hearts. We went too high up the Republican, and it seemed we never would
it 1 : get to the ford. Wecrouedthatrimuwedldtheﬂmoky,mtheice,
i and at last came to the fort, cold, hungry and dilapidated. But our welecome
|l by Col. William R. Montgomery and Capt. Nathaniel Lyon was so warm and
cordial that our hardships were all forgotten and seemed only an ugly dream.

NOTE 4, —Mrs. White evidently ped in Eaat Council Grova, for at that time there were
mmnmmmdmnm—hnmnmuxmmm
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raising.’”’ The officers, taking a number of soldiers, went over and they
had a jolly time with dinner in the woods, speech making, etc.

To that cabin in the woods we moved, where we spent five happy years,
notwithstanding the many inconveniences and drawbacks, of which snakes
were not the least.

Now for some snake stories: Our cabin stood in the edge of the woods,
with many large oaks on the two sides of it, and very near the creek (Three
Mile creek, by the way). It was lined inside with unbleached muslin, which
made a good hiding place for snakes that crept through from the outside.
Many did Mr. White kill by impaling them on a pitchfork, then loosening
the muslin at the bottom and taking them out. Blacksnakes, rattlers and
many other kinds thus met their death.

One afternoon we took a walk over the bluff. The first thing we saw on
getting to the top was a big rattler, which my husband killed by throwing
a stone at it. Going a little further we saw a strange-looking animal, less
than a quarter of a mile away. It turned and looked at us and began walk-
ing slowly into a ravine, but kept its head turned towards us as though
watching to see if we were coming nearer. It was a panther and a very
large one. Mr. White regretted so much that he had no gun or pistol with
him, as it was such a good shot. We never saw it again.

But the wolves! Oh! the wolves were numerous and bold. They at-
tacked a young calf one night very near the house and would soon have
despatched it but for its bawling, which awakened us. Mr. White ran out,
seized an ax, and the wolf was so intent on having veal for its supper it did
not run, and was knocked in the head with such force it never knew what.
killed it.

The first summer in Kansas, in July, Mr. White went back to Westport:
to buy the inevitable soda and another team, we having only the one horse-
and spring wagon. He left a young man that lived on a near-by claim to-
look after myself and children, get wood, catch fish and frogs, kill snakes,
ete. For a few days he was faithful. Then a large carbuncle developed
on his right hand, which made him almost helpless. He suffered greatly,
but walked the four miles every day to have his hand dressed at the hospital.
That was the summer that the cholera was so bad at the fort. The soldiers
died by scores.® All that were able to walk left, many died by the wayside.
The surgeon fled and many officers, but noble Major Ogden was true to his
trust and fell a victim to the dread scourge.

I must here pay a tribute of respect to John T. Price.® He was untiring
in his attention to the sick and dying. I recall one instance where he went
into a tent and found a sick woman who had been washing clothes, Her
husband lay dead on a cot, and she said she must have clean sheets to lay
him out in. Price almost by main strength forced her to lie down, and

NOTE 5.—See account of cholera at Fort Riley in August, Percival G. Lowe, Kan
Hist. Coll., vol. 7. pp. 103-107. gl -

Note 6.—Joun T. Price died at his home in Milford Decemk

DET

Louisville, Ky., February 14, 1826. He was educated at Hanover, Ind. He left college and en-
isted as a private so in Col. Step . '8 t. the First ltgc
breaking out of the Mexican war. He marched across the plains to Santa Fe and into Old Mexieo.
n the fall of 1847 he went with Col. Sterling Price to Chihuahua and assisted in the battle of San
1 th soldiers he made a march of 400 miles in ten days, tra: only at night and
hiding in the daytime. He was given a clerkship in the quartermaster’'s t at Fort
UnMw}mgmmlﬁmthwam T, 1858, he
married izabeth Badger, of Geary county. ‘was colonel Kansas mili-
tin, and served two terms as county treasurer, 1872 to 1876,
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washed the sheets and hung them out. Ha then gave the woman his atten-
tion, and by God's blessing she was restored to health and to her two small
children,
But to return to my cabin and snakes: I don’t want to be tiresome, but
I must tell some snake stories—true ones. Returning from the woods one
day with an armful of sticks which I had gathered to catch frogs with, I
saw a large snake lying across the path in front of my three-year-old daugh-
ter, who was with me. I caught and pushed her behind me, then throwing
down my sticks, picked out the largest and went for that snake. The stick
was rotten and broke with the first stroke, only enraging the viper, for it
eoiled itself up on one side of the path and, rearing its head two or three
feet from the ground, ran out a red forked tongue and made such a noise
with its rattles that my adopted daughter Maggie ran to the door to see
what it was. Without taking my eyes off the snake I called to her to get
the hoe and run away around and come up behind me, which she did very
quickly. Without moving from my tracks I took the hoe and made short
work with his snakeship. We dragged it up to the house, cut off the rat-
tles, sixteen in number, and measured him. He was over five feet in length
and as large around as a man'sarm. It was the first snake I had ever killed,
and only the thought of my children being in danger gave me courage. I
shudder now to think of the peril I was in. But it was all owing to a kind
Providence that I w.s saved. About a week later I put the baby to sleep
in the house and told Maggie to shake the leaves and litter off a pallet the
children had to play on under a large tree, intending to lay the little one
there, as it was cooler than in the house. I got ready to follow, and at the
door glanced onto the bed or pallet, and Oh, horror! there lay a huge snake
coiled around the roots of the tree with part of its body on the bed. I called
for Maggie to come back, and stepped in, laid the baby on the bed, and went
out to consider how I should dispatch this one, lying as it did so close to the
tree I could not strike with other effect than to enrage it. It soon crawled
away and into a little calf pen near by, I had a kettle of soap boiling over
a fire out of doors and I dipped up a large cupful, thinking I would scald it
to death. I looked at the snake and then at the golden fluid, and thought
what a p ty to waste it on a snake, and poured it back into the kettle, the
snake in the meantime watching as though to see what I w-s going to do
about it. Finally I got a spade and made short work of him. He had four-
‘teen rattles and was only a little less in size than the first oneI killed. My
thusband returned soon after, and I relegated the snake killing to him; and
:although they w. re as plentiful as ever I have never killed another one from
‘that day to this.

Such a comical disaster occurred on the morning of Mr. White’s return,
and being so fresh in my mind I must relate it. I got up one morning very
early and going to the door I saw two men out under a large tree seeming
to be busy with teams. It was not light enough for me to see distinetly,
and my first impulse was to shut and barricade the door, there being no
fastening of any kind to it— “‘the latch-string was always ount."’ Instead I
placked up courage and walked out towards them. To my great joy I found
them to be my husband and brother. 1 searcely knew them at close range,
go unkempt, unshaven, dirty and dusty were they—and half-starved, as a
matter of course. But after a bath in the creek, and the tangles combed
from their heads and whiskers, they did not look so forlorn. We had a
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good garden and tomatoes were ripening, and knowing how fond both
were of them I had saved them for their coming. 1 prepared the break-
fast all ready for the table, a large bowl of the delicious vegetables cooked,
along with a pot of coffee on the stove hearth, when the children running
back and forth over the floor stepped on a loose puncheon that two of the
stove legs reated on; up went the board sideways, down went the stove :
with its precious burden. I leave the reader to imagine the rest. I could
not do justice to the subject then and will not try at this late day. Mr.
White said he must have tomatoes for his breakfast, and went out and
picked enough of half-ripe and green ones for another dish. I prepared
them as before, made another pot of coffee, fortunately my meat and bis-
cuits were intact, and all was ready to put on the table, when brother said,
0, let’s carry the table out under a tree; it is so warm in here.”” No
sooner said than the leaves were let down and out it was carried. My
young man, Mr, Lincoln by name, was there too. We were all seated and
I was about to pour the coffee, when down came a torrent of rain without i
a hint of warning from thunder or lightning, It did not begin by sprink- 1|
. ling, but came in torrents. Everything was piled in the middle of the table H
and we went in, not in the order of going, but just went. With all our ]
mishaps and hunger we had to have a good laugh before we began to eat.
This young Lincoln I speak of was no relation to the President, the more
the pity, for I should love to know that I had been aided and served by one
of his kin. *‘Grand old man,’’ he deserved the name fully as much as Glad-
stone. He was the only President I ever cared for. I loved him, and still
revere and love his memory. I never see anything in print regarding him
that I do not read and enjoy. But for his untimely death he might have
lived to see the good result of his wise policy—and what a reward that
would have been. *‘May he rest in peace.”
Before cold weather we had a larger and higher house, with a loft where
a man might sleep if he didn't want to turn over, and the beauty of it was
we had a large fireplace that made such a big blaze by night we needed no
“dips.”” Coal oil was then unknown, tous at least. 1 kept my best dresses. .
hanging in the loft, where Mr. White said the rats or mice could not get at
them. One day I went upstairs—by the way, our stairs were hollowed out
pieces of wood nailed to the logs; not the hardest way of going upstairs by
any means—to see if my dresses were all right. On looking them over I
found the best one, a lovely silk and my wedding dress, had two breadths
cut to tatters, and all were more or less injured. 1 put my hand in the
pocket of one and felt something warm and soft. 1 got down the grand
staircase in a hurry, and threw half a dozen young mice in a blazing fire
with a vim that was vicious. Usually tender-hearted, I had not the least
compunetion about making a holocaust of those mice. There I was without
a dress to wear if a preacher came along and preached somewhere, but they
never did, until Mrs. Daniel Mitchell " came. She would live nowhere withouta
church. After Ogden was inecorporated as a town, and the land office opened

Note T.—Mrs. AxGie B, MitcreLL, wife of Daniel Mitchell, died on the Maricopa Indian
reservation in Arizonaabout July 21, 1906. They came to Elnlllwltll a Huuulmlatu colony in
the year 1855, and settled on Seven Mile creek near t!wl: t town o Og;l jer husband
died July 23, 1877, at the age of seventy years. ft Junction cn; rhonlJm n,
1875. Mra. Im:lun was born at West . Mass., June 27, 1824. She was a strong charae-
ter, highly educated and possessed much libel'lry ability. Daniel Mitehell ‘WS & Surveyor, very
Meu;hfnallf;g:l“ e surveyad iho town siteof Junction City In the early part of 86¢ "Ho
served as coun’ urer, 8, posif county almost .
stantly, In 1866 he mvwﬁn site of Solomon. o P
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there, a goodly lot of people came, and Mrs. Mitchell was indefatigable in
her efforts to have a meetinghouse. In her own kind and taking way she
got us all interested, and with her for leader we held a fair, with the pro-
eeeds of which that little stone church on the hill was begun, and was finished
mainly by her untiring efforts. It still stands as a memorial of her good-
mess. It was the first church built in that part of the country,

One very cold night the latch of our cabin door was lifted and in walked
@ young man. Later we would have called him a “tramp.’”” But the
*‘Weary Willies"* were beyond our conception at that early day. He took
a seat in the corner of the big fireplace, and as supper was ready, we urged
him to eat with us, but he would not. Drawing a great piece of corn bread
from his pocket, he said, “I would like to wallop my dodger in this gravy
if you hain’t no objections,’’ pointing to the skillet of gravy which stood on
the hearth, We had no objections, and he “*walloped.”’

We had a big Dutch oven with a lid and many times used it to bake short-
cake, corn dodgers, meat pies, ete., in, and they always tasted better than
when cooked in a stove, which we had set by one side of the fireplace. And
T must tell of a chicken pie we had for our first Christmas dinner in Kan-
sas, 1856, .

Lincoln, the ever-present, was there, He and Mr. White said they were
going to get the Christmas dinner. I was only too glad to let them, and
gave them carte blanche for everything. A family whose claim had been
taken into the reservation had gone in disgust and left several chickens to
starve or freeze, as might be. After two or three had frozen to death we
took those left, gave them shelter and food, and killed and ate them to save
them from a cruel death; that was the way we got chicken for our Christ-
mas dinner. The boys prepared the fowls, made their dough for the crust,
and began filling in their pie. After the fowls wera in Mr. White said to-
matoes would be good in it. I had dried ones, and they put in a plentiful
supply. Then Lincoln said sugar is good in anything, so in wenta large cup
of sugar. The pie was baked in the big Dutch oven, dished and put on the
table and eaten. I surprised the two fellows, casting glances at each other
as they ate, but I said nothing and ate as if it had been a dish fit to set be-
fore a king.

The rats and mice led us such a life that Mr. White tried shooting them
—the rats, at least. His first shot put a bullet through the bottom of our
dron skillet, the only one we had, so he gave up that modus operandi,

The following summer we made our garden some distance from the house,
:as we were raising chickens then, and fences were a convenience we did not
aspire to. One day Mr. White and I took a little two-year-old baby and
went to the garden to work. While there I saw a file of Indians passing
over a bluff that was in plain view of the eabin. Thinking the little girls
would be badly frightened, we started for home with all speed. As the
baby could not walk through the brush, her father had her to carry. We
made such slow progress I begged him to leave her with me and hasten on,
which he did as fast as his long legs could carry him, Ifollowed, dragging and
«carrying the little one by turns. As I neared the creek I heard pistol or
wifle shots. The trees still hid the house from view, and the pioneer mothers
-can imagine my feelings. Ilphuhsdﬂwuwtheenwk,nothomﬁnzthemhp—
ping stones, ran up the bank, where I got a full view of the house and sur-
roundings, and what did I see? My dear ones massacred, the Indians
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dancing around the burning eabin with the scalps of the loved ones dangling
from their belts? Nothing of the kind. Instead, I saw my husband and
some dozen or more Indians shooting at a mark. I was relieved, of course,
but I think my angry feelings predominated. I set the babe on the grass,
and throwing myself beside her I gave way to my feelings in angry tears.
The Indians soon left, and I guess I would be lying there yet had not my
hosband started to meet me and found a very angry woman. He never
thought the shots might alarm me, and was very sorry, etc. Soon zll was
smooth—forgiven, if not forgotten.

One day that summer my eldest child, Stella by name, was sitting on the
floor playing. She put her hand through a crack in the boards to recover
something she had dropped. Suddenly she ran to me with the blood drip-
ping from her fingers, crying that a snake had bitten her. I thought of
nothing but a rattlesnake, I caught her fingers to my mouth and drew the
blood from the wound until her fingers were perfectly white, then ran out
with a cup of water, made some mud in a twinkling and bound it tightly to
her finger, That was the last of it; no bad results followed, but whether
it was a snake or a rat will never be known.

That summer we learned from papers and magazines sent from home
that hoops were all the rage. One of my new friends living near the fort
had seen the ladies there with hoops and she declared we must have them,
80 we induced Mr. White to buy for us, as we were too modest to ask for
them ourselves. A little while after, but before we had worn our hoops, I
wrote a note to my friend to come out and spend the day with me and be
sure and bring her hoops. I sent the note by my husband, as he was pass-
ing that way on his road to Fort Riley. The note was delivered and Mrs.
Charles Whitehair came out ‘‘mule back.”” We made some wide skirts to
wear over hoops, dressed up and strutted around, feeling very swell, which
we were in one sense, I am sure. Towards evening, when we were expect-
ing Mr. White to come, we took the children and walked down the road to
meet him. We had not gone very far when we saw him driving old Tom
in a liesurely manner., When we were within a few rods of him he lifted
his head, saw us, put his hand over his eyes, then peering at us for a mo-
ment, stopped the horse and, with a yell that awakened the echoes, jumped
from the wagon and ran back in the direction from which he had come,
yelling the while like a Comanche Indian. At first we were frightened;
then we got next to him and all tumbled into the wagon and made old Tom
travel for all he was worth, leaving the crazy man to walk off his fright,
which he did, for he came trudging home very meekly; said he thought we
were two great hogsheads walking off with the children, and he thought it
best to take care of No. 1. He admitted the joke was on him.

In the fall of 1856 we had another cabin built, this time a hewed log
house with & porch and a grand stairway which ran up behind the door.
Then we had three houses all in & row. The last one was still standing
three years ago. ;

Ogden had been built, the land office opened there in October, 1857, and
a great deal of business carried on. For two and a half years the office re-
mained there, then Junetion City was incorporated and the office removed
there, as did nearly all the citizens of Ogden. Mr. White gave me my
«choice of having a nice large home built there on the farm and I-to stay
there while he went to practice his profession in Junction, or to have a
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house built in the latter place, I decided without a moment’s hesitation on
a home in Junction. Life was too short to live separated even a week at a
time. I regretted leaving our dear woodland home exceedingly. I loved
the trees, the bluffs, the creek—everything.

We made the change, and the first night in Junction I found the little
four-year-old girl crying as if she was broken-hearted. On inquiring the
trouble she sobbed out, *‘Oh, mamma, I eannot live here, there are no trees
to play under.”” Dear heart, she died five years ago, and I hope she has
found trees like those on Three Mile.

In addition to our three little girls we took three little boys to Junection
whom we found among those same trees. The youngest died the summer
of 1860, aged sixteen months. His death occurred on the 17th of June, our
wedding anniversary, which we had always celebrated, but which we never
did again.

I said in fhy letter that we lived a few ‘“months,”’ not years, in a shack
where the Smith library now stands. Then a few months more farther
west on Seventh street, waiting for our own house to be built, which was
completed and occupied in September, 1860,

We found a goodly number of people and many houses erected when we
came, [ recall the McClures, Hendersons, Orrs, and many others already
in their new homes, ready to live, which they said they had not been doing,
only stopping off for a time. Uncle Dick Whitney was there with his family
in their new house on the corner of Washington and Eighth, now owned by
the Ross family. Mr, Whitney® built the first frame house in Junetion, and
many others, our own among them, which still stands, witness of good hon-
est work, by a good workman, as Uncle Dick certainly was. Then the
Mitchells came up from Ogden, which made an addition to our pleasant and
congenial little society.

In Junction hoopa were everywhere in evidence, but we did not make
scarecrows of ourselves by wearing them. Kansas winds made sad havoe
with them and they were soon discarded.

We had pleasant times in those days. We met often at each other’s
houses; had spelling school once a week fora while, and it was such fun to
see the best spellers have to sit down for missing little words when they
could not be caught on big ones. Dear Mrs. Woodward, a bright little wo-
man, was our best speller. She never missed a word, big or little. The
men gave each other nicknames by making their initials spell some ludierous
thing. For instance, 8. B. White was Steam Boat White, which elung to
him for a long time. There was a bright young lawyer, Caswell by name,
whom they named Caterwaul, and so on to the end of the chapter.

Our second summer in Junction we had a good garden and raised some
fine watermelons, Wishing to share them with our friends we gave a melon
party on a long table in the yard. We had melons, many of them cut in all
imaginable shapes. We had a yard full, and after eating all we could we
got to throwing rinds, like children, and had amerry if wet time. I supplied
dry dresses to the limit of my wardrobe, and all went home happy, if they

did leave their dresses on the clothesline.

0Tk 8 —RicHArD C WHITHEY born in Cincinnati, Ohio, and died in San J
ew Mexico, mmm& 1898, w‘::umu-nlmemz Hob'umuxum ini 1;;‘
was 3
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Snakes there were, too, in Junction. A very large rattler was killed in
our yard, and one day starting down town I saw a curious looking snake
lying in the road a little distance from the gate. It lay with its head so
flattened to the ground I thought it had been killed. I looked around for a
stick to touch it when I saw A. C. Pierce in his yard cutting wood. I called
to him to bring his ax, which he did, and with one blow severed its flat head
from its body. He then told me it was a copperhead, and they always as-
sumed that form beforestriking. He said if I had touched it, it would have
struck at me. 1 wonder if A. C. Piercer bers the incident?

Another time, taking Stella, when she was eight years old, with me, 1
went up to Mr. R, E. Lawrenson’s field to gather greens. Returning with
my basket full we walked in a narrow path overgrown with weeds—there
was no road nor any houses. I heard the loud hissing and rattling of a
snake. Stella as usual was before me. I called to her to run for her life,
and she ran. For the fraction of a second I hesitated; to turn to either
side was dangerous, so I kept the straight and narrow path. I could see
nothing for the weeds, but I was a high stepper till I got to a place free of
weeds, where Stella awaited me. She eried out ‘‘Oh, mamma, a snake bit
me on the foot.”” My heart sank. Was she to die of snake bites after so
many escapes? I examined her foot and found on the heel of one shoe, very
plainly to be seen, the marks of the snake's fangs, but the stiff leather of
the heel had been too hard to pierce, so the third time she escaped. Pray
don’t say the *‘trail of the serpent was over us” for it was not. We lived
happy and contented lives in spite of the snakes.

We had schools taught by good teachers, and our children learned rapidly.
Miss Lizzie Brigham, Mrs. Mitchell’s sister, taught the winter of 1859 and
1860. Mrs. McFarland, that tireless little woman who could and would not
be idle, taught a term in the kitchen of the City Hotel, then vacant, and at
that time the only house between ours and Washington street. Later on
Mrs. Mitchell and Mrs. Robert McBratney each had large classes.

Time moved on and the war broke out. Sorrow, separation, and all
manner of changes were made. Many of the men of the town joined the
army and went to the field to battle for freedom. Well do I remember the
morning that Captain McClure and his little band of recruits gathered be-
fore his house to receive a flag made by their wives and the mothers of that
same little band. A bright young girl? stood on a chair and made the pre-
sentation speech in an audible voice and charming manner. Whata tearful
parting it was. Captain McClure left a foot on the field at Shelbina. Dear
Willie Mitchell, so bright and loving and beloved, lost his life the last year
of the war.'0 It nearly broke his mother’s heart. Oh! how many hearts

% NoTE 9.—Miss JosEPHINE MORGAN, now ‘Mrs. Josephine Blakely Martin, 823 Topeka avenue,
opeka.

Nore 10.—Capt. WILLIAM D, MITCHELL, son of Daniel Mitchell, enlisted with Company B,
Second Kansas regiment, at Junetion City, in the spring of 1861. He was detailed by Brig. Gen.
R. B. Mitchell as clerk to the adjutant, and in this position was transferred to the Fifth Ken-
tucky cavalry with the rank of first lieutenant. He was with Gen. A. J. Smith on his raid
th h ippi, when he ived a severe wound, About the fall of Atlanta his regiment
was attached to Sherman's army. He was in all the battles from Atlanta to teville, N. C.
March 10, 1885, Kilpatrick’s cavalry was surprised by a superior force, when Federals lost
two guns. Captain Mitchell was determined to recapture those guns. He was leading a eom-

mny in such an pt when he ived a ball the heart. an
Euriad ‘where he fell, with the honorsof war. He was twenty-four years old at the time of his
death. Mitchell county was named in his honor, A sister, Mra. E. ¥ about a
year ago in Arizona, and a very thoughtful neighbor, discovering a picture of Captain Mitchell
among her effects, inquired if the Kansas State Historical Society did not want it, and now a
picture of Captain Mitchell graces the walls of the Kansas state capitol.
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were broken before the war ended! We who were left eould stand and
wait,

There were some lawless people in the country (and if not in the town,
there were sympathizers). One day a young man, a mere boy in fact, was
brought into town accused of horse stealing. He knew no one and had no
one to defend him until my husband offered to do so. The trial was set for
the next day, but the poor-fellow was not there to be defended. That same
night we were awakened by a noise down town. Going to the window we
heard shouts and saw lights. Some one yelled '*Bring on the rope."” Then
all sounds were swallowed up in a long wail of woe that begged for mercy.
As long as I live that cry for mercy will at times sound in my ears. Mr.
White could stand it no longer. Getting into his clothes, he started to the
street. All of a sudden a dead silence fell on the town, the deed was done,
and he came upstairs and told me about the boy. That was the only case
of the kind that ever happened in the town, Many of a very different
nature occurred, however. All had the interest and welfare of their neigh-
bors at heart, and when sickness or death visited us we were as one family.

Kansas State Historical Society.

the army, she knew not where. But she had the aid and sympathy of the
town. The little ones were buried in the same coffin, and it was heart-
rending to see that bereaved mother.! So it was in all cases|; friends and
neighbors could all be depended upon to assist,

As time went on we became indifferent to the outside world, We fol-
lowed the same routine day by day, week after week, until there was dan-
ger of our never getting out of the rut, when fortunately a red-breasted
Martin came along and stirred us up with his ringing notes, uttered from
the press. We were soon all on the qui vive to see what was coming next.
Nothing escaped him, and the wrongdoer was well scored. He was a prac-
tical joker, too. I recall a joke he got up on a lawyer who was just begin-
ning to wear glasses, by entering his office in his absence and removing the
glasses from the frames and having a erowd to witness the man's confusion
when he read as usual with the frames minus the glasses. I wonder if Mr.

The eruel war was ended at last. People flocked to Kansas and Junction
City got a good share of them, Business was resumed, and with the influx
of strangers our little coterie was broken up. So many changes took place
inthamemnryofmmynwlivingthtlwﬂllummms one else the task
of continuing the story.

Of all that dear circle few are left, The last few years death has been
busy; even in the last few days word has come of the death of two dear
ones. Indeed, I stand almost alone. T am the last survivor, too, of a large
family; brothers and sisters have all passed over the dark river, which I,
too, will soon be called to cross. As I have lived the most of my life in
Imeﬂmﬂ!h.thuv,too,lhmtodia,intheoldhmamdm to my
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STATEMENT OF THEODORE WEICHSELBAUM, OF
OGDEN, RILEY COUNTY, JULY 17, 1908.

I WAS born in Furth, near Nuremberg, Bavaria, June 10, 1834. My

father was Dr. Morits Weichselbaum. He practiced medicine in Furth
for sixty-six years. He was born in 1902, and died there in 1895. My
mother was Betty Kohn. I do not remember her father’s name. She lived
in Wiirzburg, Bavaria, a university town. She died in 1869.

I landed in New York ecity the 1st of June, 1856, and worked for a whole-
sale jewelry store in that city belonging to Louis Lewinger, corner of
Nassau street and Maiden Lane, in which I had some interest. I sold my
interest in this business soon, as 1 wanted to learn to speak the English
language, and my employer used German only. 1went peddling for a short
time in Connecticut, and took opportunities to talk whether I made sales or
not. I had been an English student in Bavaria, but it needs experience to
talk well. Springer & Fries, wholesale clothing manufacturers of Cincin-
pati, heard that I wae in this country, and having known me in Bavaria,
sent for me. They furnished me with goods and paid my expenses to
go out to Leavenworth, all the way from New York city. At St. Louis
1 took the steamboat Morning Star, and landed in Leavenworth in March,
1857. My goods were landed at Kansas City, Mo., and I opened a general
store there on Main street, the third house from the levee on the east side.
I visited the locality recently, but could not recognize a building. I stayed
there until the 18th of December of that year. My business did not suit
me, so I loaded up-my goods in three wagons and took them to Ogden, I
followed the Santa Fe trail with my three wagons until I reached the sta-
tion at 110. From there I took the Mormon trail and traveled three full
days, and never saw a person or a house. On the morning of the fourth
day I saw a house within three rods of where we had camped the night be-
fore. 1 went to the house to find out where I was, and found I was on the
head of Humboldt creek, in Geary county. From there I had to drive to
Fort Riley, and crossed the Kansas river at Whisky Point, just opposite
the fort. There was quite a little town there then—saloons, stores, ete.
The soldiers bought whisky there. I then drove five miles northeast to
Ogden, and put my goods into a little log store building, and opened them
up for sale. The county seat was then at Ogden, and the land office. Davis
county was not yet organized, but was under the jurisdiction of Riley
county.! I slept on my counter. Not long afterward I moved my goods

roadYOTE L—At the Home-coming Week in Junetion City in Aum 1908, George W. Martin

t, 8

per, from whle.h we extract the following statemen
]{I:ﬂ. luncﬂonmu.ndhnhthn. lmhhthlld

at the corner of Rich: {now
mnuln-wutthirbm thenee north to the S Hill. and down the river to the north
at that George,

corner of Richardson,
the river ]nlﬂ'ﬂhalwﬂuﬂ tb the legi: used
hhmmoflwﬁmvdth-mmilmnﬂhﬁmt;nlmmhm In 1860 the east line of
the county was pushed four miles to Ri of
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into a log cabin, with a loft, in which I slept. In 1859 I put up my first
stone building, the one in which the post office is now kept.

I was postmaster at Ogden under Buchanan’s administration. My com-
It was signed by the President and in-
dorsed by Joseph Holt, postmaster-general, who died a short time ago. 1
also had the post office under Lincoln and until Grant’s administration,

mission is dated October 26, 1859,

when the Republican party put me out.

Cleveland’s administration,*

I early became financially interested in the sutler stores at Forts Larned,
Dodge, Harker, Wallace and Camp Supply. I sold out my interest in all of
them in May, 1869, to Charles F. Tracy, of St. Louis, who had received the
appointment as sutler at Dodge and Larned. During the '60’s I filled sev-
eral government contracts at these posts putting up hay and wood. The
last wood contract I filled in 1869—1200 cords at $24.42 a cord—for Fort
Dodge. I got the wood twenty-five miles south of Fort Dodge on Bluff
creek, and hauled it with my own teams,

Jesse Crane got the original appointment for the sutler’s store at Fort
Larned, in 1859, and asked me to help him. He had elerked for Bob Wilson, the
original post sutler at Fort Riley, and secured his appointment in that way.

So we started in partnership and continued four years.

Our first goods

were taken to Camp Alert, right across the timbered ravine, northeast of
where they were building Fort Larned. We were there perhaps six or
eight months before the completion of the fort. Maj. Henry W. Wessels

1880 took some territory off Dickinson and added it to Davis, and also extended Davis north of
the Smoky Hill. The territorial legislature of 1861 changed several sections in township 10 south

the river, ite Manhattan, to Rlle?' county.

sections in the line between Davis and D

In 1564 there was 8 change made of
ckinson. The weat line of Riley was five or six miles
weat of Junetion City, so that this region north
In 1873 the territory at the mouth of MeDowell was

a few

of the river was, prior to 1860, in Riley county.
wiven to Riley, and the Milford section :I'I

the Republican given to Davis. To complete the story of the manipulation of these county lines,

I must say that the re of 1871 took from Wabau
or fourteen miles south from the river and gave it to Riley county. The legislature of

stored six miles of this territory to Wabai

abaunses,
" Ni hy and how happened all this changing of boundary
plein siness. Local history

ten people in the county familiar with this bu
1 have . both

befors and sinee occupying my present

rivers made
began in this hborhood. 1

writers are getting very
u

all know that commen gossip, general

wut documents,
“Davis and Riley were very reasonab
Riley. and it also had the United States land

destroyed. l?avlilns Pg.gnn :hn:upl;- tqwn.c Kansas Falls

not su

nsee a strip of six miles
L.}

wide and twelve

1873 re-

linea? 1 venture there are not
was always a fad with me, und

ppose some would eall it

nderstanding and rumor some in
tory. In talking about these changes and how they happened, I must give you

. that quite f)

iti
originally laid out on & barren and unde-

ry. . The Smoky

necessa)
he task of reconstruction

8u| mess, but present conditiona
mrlﬁii:ynﬂfﬁ&e onlalzhtndnm of those who first made settloments in the counties of Davis

particular in this day about documents, but we
times involve very good his-
some history with-

ly shaped counties. Ogden was the county seat of

office, and it was reasonably situated. Pawnee was

was an

ibined to crucif:

reconstruction into ita Lrue:’tt shape of Davis or

the Country Club now

[

tat a town, but

it could

Ogden. I have no documenta
The the county seat of Riley and
the latter took the land office. But Junetion 0"'5;" without a county, and hence the

ormer s
i
ry county. Riley City, loeated about wh.
‘was an ambitious point, lnd{undn]uwb-wl out. e
ere wi hiave some documents. The legislature of 1857
directed that the le of Riley hold #n election for county seat on the first Monday of O
1857. The same mm fixed for a county-seat vote in ?‘u:hll. but this latter did no

ctober,
t happen
on the

“In the papers on file with the Historical Soclety it is charged that Ogden was never notified

‘was the D

A,

for state tr
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and Capt. Julius Hayden (of company H, Second infantry) commanded the
soldiers at Fort Larned then, companies G and H, Second infantry, sent
there to establish the fort. Major Wessels was a.very fine old man, I
hauled out the baggage and provisions for these men.

F. W. Schaurte was orderly sergeant when I went down to Fort Larned
with Major Wessels. Schaurte had his wife and one child with him there.
She was an Irish woman while he was a German, I used to stop with them
when at Fort Larned. He was stationed there over a year. He was colonel
of a Cherokee regiment during the Civil War. One of the eaptains had his
family there too. I think it was Capt. Julius Hayden; just his wife. He
remained there until the breaking out of the war.

Jesse Crane got the appointmen! at Fort Dodge when the fort was first

of the in by this legi: committee—they heard of it h the newspapers, and
when they hed the seat of the bill in favor of Manhattan passed both houses
of the legislature,

" The folks then certainly had some nerve. The territorial legislature of 1857 overlooked
Riley in making legislative apportionment. Among the plm we hnw u a petition asking the
governor of the territory to call a special sess wm Riley county
a member. They say that ‘the growing Inhmsu af our county ‘
and we know of but one way to correct this blunder.' There are twenty- #’nm inelud-
ing meh we]l Imvwv names as Ben H. Keyser, P Z Taylor, RohrtH&nd&-on, "

lg John Banderson, William SBanderson, George Montague and Henry Mitch

"le Umud tates land office was ned at Ouﬂan in Dcmbm- 1857. Ashland was made
the county seat of Davis oountr in lsss ut [ unnut find any llrchoﬁt!f it. Onuﬁauh of
February, 1859, Junction Cils ncorporated. In September, 1859, the United States land
office was moved to Junetion City, lntbemdmho!m hzaorpo][ﬁulmn-
nipulation, the county having moved north of the river to lm:hl.dcﬂlln beautiful spot, a county-
seat u!eclkm h-pwmd on thn 25th of June, 1860, Of mm it wn urmducm better than the

id not need the intercession of th There were 287 votes for
Junetion City. m for Union, 3 for Ashland, and 3 for thr itv Junethn City polled 224 votes.
;?irghgsn later there were 112 votes polled in the county, of which number Junction City
rny =
“Now the two towns of Junction City and Manhattan have each a county seat. Ogden led 11
off with a ' Kansas Female Collegiate Institute,’ in February, 1857, and Manhattan followed with il
the ‘ Bluemont Central College,” now the Kansas State Agricultural College, in February, 1558, |
Our proalavery forefathers were slow in this respect.
Junction was now comparatively at ease concerning county lines. But the extreme length
of Riley county north, extending westward across the I:lllu to the Republican, m:ilauhnthn

ei!.ber township ltm mthms od it until lt was all over. Geary county was born about

way. But Manhattan was still in trouble. and in 1908 reached the harbor of nf:? tbe skin
of her teeth. T was present at a big fight between Manhattan and the north end before
a committee of the legislature that year. Manhattan wanted a law authorizing a tax to build a
courthouse. She won in the legislature, and set the day of the election about one week before
the flood of :m A week llb!t & sea of water would have drowned her hopes for a few years

son county. There never was such ucllmtw
though the town of Abilene was all in Topeka. If § .
which involved everything at that session except the state printer, the bill makingsuch a change
would have passed the house, but with no Drnmbillur of
woolly row, A five-gallon keg was kept on all the time in the washstand in a rear room of
the Tefft House, and every! e O was privil to call and help himself, That was my last run
for state printer. umi 1 had a dreadful time and some fun di-nn-n%hnt keg. Now, I haven't
any pi for this, but it is a reasonable and a believable story. frolic u‘;t §600, and it

ig
gss
§
?F
i
;
g
E

was paid in some sort of voucher by the county issi for
river bridge, probably a ten-dollar

mmalivelymawtin the lature of 1808 over a bill to detach six miles from
Morris eounty and add it to Geary. Thia vu'lwdl]u Rock Island mnd dgh ight sections of
land, $400,001 of hxnb'le property and 1600 population. The bill did not house, but it
raised a greal i It was d to be & White Ci wmt against Council

Grove, and Ge-rywunotmuchlmm Junction City would have about as much use for
additional territory on the south as Manhattan would have on the north end of Riley.

‘I think county lines in Kansas are now defin sett But to justify the mﬂuh
this neizhborhood 1 call attention to the fact that Shawnee worked some territory off Jackson
and Jefferson: Douglas also worked Jefferson, and Wyandotte wwknl Johnson. In Potta-
‘watomie the trouble took the ite chute, and the county has a mnty seat in the hills away
from the railroad, with two towns on the railroad, St. Marys and Wamego.'

;'i
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and buy the goods, and haul them with my
which we had a clerk.? George W. Crane,

1865. It was our custom to close the store

out hunting. As they did not come back,

the sergeant who went out with him.

S. Miller, a former banker of Junetion City,

was my attorney at Junction City.

KANSAS
HISTORICAL
SOCIETY

Kansas State Historical Society.
established in 1865, and I became his partner., I would go on to St. Louis

teams from Leavenworth to all

the posts. Crane had the oversight of the work at the posts, at each of

now head of a Topeka printing

office, was head clerk at Fort Larned. A brother of mine, Albert Weich-
selbaum, was at Fort Dodge. He was killed there on Sunday, August 27,

at one o’clock in the afterncon

on Sundays. My brother and one of the soldiers, a cavalry sergeant, went

news was sent to my brother

Sam, who was clerking for me at Fort Larned. The commander there fur-
nished him with a company of cavalry to escort him to Fort Dodge.
found my brother Albert’s body on a sand bar in the Arkansas river,
a mile above Fort Dodge, but they never found the soldier’s remains. I
was never satisfied as to whether Albert was killed by

They
about

the Indians or by

1 bought out the interest at Fort Harker and Fort Wallace from Robert

dead long ago. The firm name

at Fort Wallace was Scott & Weichselbaum. D. W. Scott had been the
" quartermaster at Fort Riley for several years.

The firm name at Fort Harker was Osborne & Scott. Vincent B, Os-
borne had been a soldier during the war and had one leg cut off. Neither
man had money, and I furnished the capital, and supposed I had a half in-
terest in Scott’s share, but I had no contract written. I did have a written
agreement for Fort Wallace, written out by the judge of the court, who

The firm name at Camp Supply, Fort Larned and Fort Dodge was Tap-

Nore 8. —Jesse H. Cra born in Easton. Pennsylvania, J 18%9. He was educated
in La Faette and came to Kansss with his fathor, Dr. F. L Goant o 150s, "B ucated
year he took a ion as clerk with Bab"Wlm-nﬂxumkimlnlthnw-
pointed post su at engaged with Weichselbaum of

i is e mnt:fntl:au.ntlll.m when -ﬂldhw;uy% Fort It‘ﬂ“d I.nm;nd
Topeks, father e to San barn,
on accatint of eatarrhal trouble, and returned with his family in. 1676, He Sy o
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pan & Weichselbaum. J. E. Tappan was first lieutenant of the Second
Colorado, company G, during the war, a nephew of Samuel F. Tappan, Bos-
ton people. John E. Tappan's father was a large manufacturer of rubber
goods in Boston. When the young man went in with me he put in a capital
of $5000, and he bought out Jesse Crane. Ours was the first sutler's store
at Camp Supply.

1 think it was in 1868 that I opened the sutler’s store at Camp Supply.
Maj. Henry Inman was the chief quartermaster for the Western Depart-
ment, stationed at Fort Harker. He supplied the transportation for all
those Western posts when there was an expedition to go out. There were
several such expeditions fitted out from there. When Custer was stationed
at Fort Riley he and Mrs. Custer visited at my house. |

When Major Inman and I went down to Camp Supply, soon after it was
opened, we had an escort of ten Cheyenne Indians. They would always
have fresh buffalo meat ready for usincamp. Itraded withthe Cheyennes,
Arapahoes and Kiowas between the Arkansas river and Camp Supply.

We did a lot of business at Fort Supply; a good business. Drum,
1 think, was in charge of the Camp Supply sutler’s store, and had an inter-
est with us.

In July, 1864, Maj. Gen. S. R. Curtis was sent out to Fort Riley by the '}
War Department to raise all the militia he could to go to the relief of trains i |
which were corralled at Cow creek* on the Santa Fe road because of the i |
hostile Indians. As soon as he reported at Fort Riley, Capt. James R. Me- | i

|
|

i

Clure, who was in command of that post, sent for me to report to him, and
go as guide on that expedition. I reported the same day, but it took a few
days to make ready. I had to furnish teams to haul thegoods. I furnished
seven or eight teams and drivers. Brother Albert was one of the militia,
and rode one of my mules. We went to Fort Larned, and after we were
there a day or two General Curtis got my horse to ride. He had none,
having come out to Fort Riley in a four-mule ambulance which he had con- '
tinued to use to Fort Larned. Capt. John Willans, General Curtis’s adju- | I !
tant on this expedition, was the only soldier he had with him. I knew 1
Willans before the war. He had a theater upstairs in my store building. I

oTE 4. —The following manuscripts were found among the Society’s papers, and evidently

N
pertain to this expedition :

“Heap QUARTERS 1iTH Rec. K. 8. M.,
b Fr. RiLEY, July 23, 1864,

e toi jons just ived from Major General you are ordered to re-
port to this headquarters with the least possible delay, with all the men you can raise from your
company, well mounted, arms will be furnish here.

"Order your men to take one or two blankets each, as they probably will be absent for eight

Your obedient servant,

.

wwdﬁn Very 3

2d t. C. M. Dyche, commanding F Co., . W. ScorT,

14th Regt. K. 8. M. Col. 14th Regt. K. 8. M.
“Report of 2d Lieut. C. M. Dyehe, Co. F, 14th Regt., Kansas Militia.

1 G.ﬂ.DiuhnHLb\lt. 14. Joe Osbern.

2. Robert Mellan, 4th Sergt. 15. William Pcwel.

8. E. C. Estman, 2d Corporal. 16. J. Streetfield.

4. J. Myres, ith 17. R.T. Thomas.

5. A. B. Brookfield, 3d Lieut. 18 D. Warner.

8. J. Busby. 19. A. Weichselbaum.,

7. C. Caley, 20. Th. Weichselbaum.

8, 8. Cutter. 2L J. J. Myres.

9, James Hestan. 22. Alb. Phasan,

10, J. Mellan. 23. C. Zubell.

11. Robert Mellan. 24. J. T. Banister.

12. John Osbern. 25. Philip Bloomer,

N et the slhere I  Goiey ik of tie Joat s o the Tidiad sepedition.

a on

“Aug. 6, 1864. C. M. DycnE, 2d Lieut., Co. F,, 14th Regt. K. 5. M."”
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A pretty good fellow. We crossed the Arkansas river south of Larned.
After we crossed Pawnee fork we went east without seeing any Indians;
but they saw us. We recrossed the river near the mouth of Walnut creek,
near Fort Zarah. (I ran a store there in 1864 or 1865, and made hay there
for the government.) Curtis found nothing. It was the state militia
from Riley, Davis and Pottawatomie counties I accompanied. We picked
them up going out. The state made an appropriation that partially paid us,
but we were never paid in full.

I brought the news of the breaking out of the war from For: Riley to
Fort Wise, in April, 1861, with an ox team, ahead of the mail. I took a
soldier’s wife out there to her husband, Her husband was a bugler in the
company. She begged me to take her out. I asked her $20 for the trip, 500
miles out and the same back, but I took some Indian goods out and sold them,
80 made something. In those days there was only one mail from Independ-
ence, Mo., to Fort Union, N. M. The same animals they started with had
to go through the whole trip to Fort Wise (Bent’s old fort). This was
when the fort proper was still used—the fort by the river. It was moved
afterwards. They used Bent's old fort on the hill for their commissary
stores and offices; but the post, made up of little shanties and tents, was.
down on the river,

June 10, 1862, I married, my wife coming direetly to me from Germany.
I had never known her nor seen her. My parents picked her out for me and
sent her out. They made a good selection—the best woman that ever lived.
She had eight children, of whom four are living. Fanny Blumenstein was
her name. They had sent me her photo and we had had some correspondence.
My brother-in-law, John Jacob Tipp, brought her with him from Germany
to Leavenworth with a sister of mine, Tipp’s wife. They lived at Ogden in
the same house with us. Our children were: Josephine Weichselbaum, born
May, 1864. Samuel, my oldest boy, was born in 1866. He was married in Au-
gust, 1908, in Chicago. Edwin was born in 1868 in Furth, Bavaria. My wife
and children were thers ona visit. I had taken them over in 1867, stayed two
months, got tired of bumming and came back to my work, but went back
for them in the fall and brought them home, crossing the ocean four times
that year. Johanna, living at Macon, Ga., is our youngest child, she mar-
ried my second cousin, Julius J, Waxelbaum, a wholesale fruit man or com-
mission merchant at Macon. They have three children. He changed the
spelling of our name. My oldest daughter, Josephine, is not married and
lives at home, is my storekeeper, My wife died in 1896. June 14, 1900, 1
married Miss Bertha Koch, of New York city.

When I took that woman out to Fort Wise in 1861 I was attacked by five
young Indians after I crossed Big Coon creek on the Santa Fe trail. The
five had but one pony. When they saw my horse there they wanted to
trade. The woman was in the wagon. I refused to trade, when one took
his spear and punched me in the face. I then took out my pistol and
pounded the one that punched me on the head, and left him there on the
prairie. Returning from Fort Wise, I brought three discharged soldiers
from three miles this side of Cow creek. One was a cook and made up a
loaf of bread, and had it out to cool while some more was cooking. A great
big Indian eame up (there were others behind him) and climbed into my
wagon and helped himself to my bread, but I took out my blacksnake whip.

i ~ 142
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and whipped them right and left, and chased them off. I think they were
Kaws. When I came back to the wagon the three soldiers were just as
white as eould be. One of them, Joseph Rendlebrock, then a sergeant, be-
came a eaptain of eavalry in the regular army during the war. I have read
two articles in the Kansas City Star recently about this man’s serviee in
New Mexico. He seems never to have conquered his fear, although he
gerved in the army long enough to draw a pension on retiring.

In 1864 the Cheyenne Indians asked my partner (Crane) and myself to
trade with them in their camp, twenty miles southwest of Fort Larned, in
November and December. They escorted us out to the camp on the Ar-
kansas river. We forded the Arkansas with our four-mule team. I was in
my own conveyance, a carriage and mules, and expected to stay a week.
‘Then the river froze over so we could not get back for four weeks. The
Indians treated us well. Their camp was south of the Arkansas—a great
big camp. We got a lot of buffalo robes there, We traded our goods to
them for buffalo robes and antelope skins. The Indians had lodges from
which the Sibley tent was patterned. They furnished us a lodge to live in,
and gave us soup in six- and eight-quart milk pans. Another dishwas little
dogs roasted. They were raised for that purpose, and were just as niceand
fat as could be. They also roasted buffalo. They also cut the meat in little
pieces and mixed it with red berries, and made a sausage which was very
fine eating,. We did our business with the Cheyennes, Arapahoes and
Kiowas.

John K. Wright built the foundation of my store at Fort Larned in 1862.
It was a big stone store building, and though he afterwards followed the
busineas, this was the first contract of that kind he ever had. He wasa
sergeant in the Second Colorado, stationed at Fort Larned at the time. I
had a back room where I slept. Sometimes six or eight big Indians slept
on the floor at the same time. We had a Cheyenne to do the chores about
the place. When they went on the warpath they had to give us notice and
he left. They would not allow him to stay there.

About 1861, or perhaps later, the Pottawatomies and Kickapoos went out
in the fall of the year for buffalo meat, to about where Abilene now is. As
the party came back a young fellow had two long strings of fingers and toes
of a Pawnee strung from his saddle horn to the back of his saddle, outside
of his legs. There seemed to be more than would belong to one personm.
He had done the killing. I remember there was a big fight between the
Pawnees and Pottawatomies, but have forgotten the particulars ®

NoTE 5.—These relics may have been taken from one of the victims of the fight on Bull Foot
It:fl:!ll: Lineuhl county, about 1863, mentioned bw Adolph Roenigk in the following extract from

*In 1334 I beeame acquainted with Mr. Ferdinand Erhardt. an old settler two miles south of
here on Bull Foot creek. '.l'audns with him about old times and Indians, he told me about this
place where he found !kulll and some remains of dead lndl.lnu when he first settled, in 1967,
A few later a party of Pottawatomie Indians eamped there for about a week, about a
half mile west of his farm, Several white men were with lhogl.rly and from them he learned
about the battle, It was said to have been a running fight, e retreating party of fourteen
tried to find shelter or a hiding plme in among vocks, a kind of a cave near Bull Foot creek, and
nll were klllad Some writer may !rritten about this before, as it was known to the military
officers at Fort Harker. Mr. Erhlrdt said in 1869 an ambulance came over from t ofwt.dhtlnne
twenty mil .nd gltllu-'] up thn bones and what wasleft of the dead Indians. I wanted to see
the place, On a rock near by we found an inseription cut. The exact words
1 donot rlmtmbu' buc thlnk it Hldl Battle hetween Poihwnh:mlea and leneu. fourteen
Indians killed, 1868." A number of bullet'marks were n})laluen be seen where the rain could
not wash over it. This was twenty years ago.”"—Letter, J 1904,

A Mr. Solomon Humbarger, of Culver, told Mr. Romlxkﬂmatmum-tln blt&-hppenod
.alarge party of Pottawatomies came past their place, having with th
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About the winter of 1863-"64, after Col. Jesse H. Leavenworth had been
appointed Indian agent, he came in at the same time I did, by eoach, from
Fort Larned. When we eame to about where Brookville now is, to a little
log shack, we were snow-bound and had to stay there all night. | had
bought from the Indians two good blankets and was prepared for the night.
Leavenworth asked me where I got the blankets. 1 told him to mind his

Fort Harker for two mules. Inman was the quartermaster,

Capt, Nathaniel Lyon was in command of Fort Riley in the fall of 1860,
and hired me and my outfit to go to Camp Alert, afterwards Larned, to make
hay for the government, and allowed me sixty-five dollars per day from the
time I left Fort Riley until T returned. I had about ten wagons and about
ten extra hands. The men did the mowing with scythes, a half dozen great
big Dutchmen, all in a row. Icleared twenty dollars a day for my own serv-
ices. I was gone thirty days, We hauled the grass ten miles, across Coon
creek and the Arkansas river, There was not a drop of water in the Ar-
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we cut the grass in good shape,

Lyon, to punish his soldiers, would make them carry two or three sticks
of cordwood on their shoulders, There would always be some of these men
marching up and down there, He was a little fellow. He was a terrible
growler. He was smart. He was a hard nut. He was an honorable man,
and a good friend to me. It was Lyon who gave me the Jjob of making hay
at Fort Larned. They could not get anyone else to take the contract, and
8o I got it, and big wages.

I built a brewery and ran it for ten years at Ogden, and closed up the
business when the prohibition law came into effect, May 1, 1881. 1 hauled
the beer around the country and sold it to the saloons, and shipped it as far
west as Hays. I never got a cent in compensation for my loss, and I am
out $15,000. I had built a large brewery, with cellars underground, and

8 story. Mr. letter
mullnullm:rnumhlr. James R, Mead's description of those Pawnes horse-
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